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Archaeological Evaluation of areas to be affected by Urchany WSZ Water Mains Rehabilitation Scheme at Auldearn and Geddes, Nairn-shire

Introduction

The author was asked by Earth Tech Engineering Ltd to carry out an archaeological evaluation, consisting of a desk-based assessment and walk-over survey, of areas to be affected by water mains refurbishments in Auldearn village and sections to the north of the village, and at Geddes, between Auldearn and Cawdor. The object of the evaluation was to locate previously recorded archaeological sites and area of potential archaeological interest, and identify previously unrecorded visible features in the vicinity of the proposed works, which might be adversely affected by the project, and to recommend measures to mitigate the impact of the project on the archaeological record. Any decisions on further archaeological work will be made in consultation with the senior archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council.

Areas of Work

The following areas will be affected by the present project:

1. Penick, at NH 9397 5640, length c. 150m.

2. From Druimlynn at NH 9095 5744 – Druim – Bogside of Brodie – Boath House – A96 – Auldearn, length c. 3135m

Spur to Drumduan, length c. 500m

3. Auldearn village centre, extending north to A96, east to NH 9247 5646, south to NH 9184 5517.

4. Junction of A96 and B9111 at NH 9056 5604 to Dunbar recreation ground at NH 9114 5557, length c. 750m.

5. Raitloan Service Reservoir at NH 8850 5345 – Easter Geddes – Wester Regoul – Newlands of Broomhill at NH 8771 5141, length c. 3550m

Desk-Based Assessment

The following resources were consulted during the desk-based assessment:

Highland Sites and Monuments Record, held by the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council in Inverness

RCAHMS Database ‘CANMORE’

1st edition Ordnance Survey map

Early maps held by the Map Library within the National Library of Scotland in Edinburgh

Additional information on some sites and historical background was acquired from

· ‘The Buildings of Scotland: Highlands and Islands’ John Gifford 1992

· ‘Moray and Badenoch: A Historical Guide’ Richard Oram 1996

· ‘An Historical Atlas of Scotland c. 400-c.1600’ ed. P. Mcneill and R. Nicholson 1975

· ‘A Tour of Scotland in 1769’ Thomas Pennant

Walk-Over Survey

This was carried out on 7.2.03 in fine and dry weather conditions, with a light cover of snow lying on the ground, which was insufficient to obscure features.

Archaeological Features

The following features were visited or noted during the walk-over survey. The listing runs from north to south

Area 1. Penick: no archaeological features noted

Area 2. Druimlynn to A96

Site 1.  Bridge, rubble pile at NH 9227 5649. An attractive small mortared rubble road bridge. To the west of this, in the corner of the field is a pile of rubble, soil and modern material, standing approximately 1.5m high and fronted by a row of boulders. This is probably a field clearance pile, enhanced by the dumping of other material, and need not be treated as an archaeological feature.

The bridge should be protected from accidental damage during insertion of the water main, particularly if the pipe runs within the road crossing the bridge.

Site 2. Boath Steading at NH 9201 5593, SMR no. NH95NW0042  Listed ‘B’  The steading survives as a stabilised ruin, probably just the external walls enclosing a garden area (Photos no. 1 and 2) The wall nearest the road is set back slightly behind the low mortared dyke running alongside the road, and should be unaffected if the water main route is within the road. 

Site 3. Boath House at NH 9196 5583, SMR no. NH95NW0026. Listed ‘A’. Gatepier and enclosing drystone dyke. The low dyke runs along the road skirting round the house grounds. The main entrance is to the south of the house, so this single gate pier to the NE must represent a back entrance no longer in use (Photo no. 3). If contemporary with the house (built in 1830), these features could be considered to come under the protection of the ‘A’ listing, which covers not just the house but associated outbuildings and garden features. The water main also passes the main entrance to the house, with gatepiers set back slightly from the road, and is unlikely to affect these.

It is unclear whether the water main is running within the road or on the other side of the drystone dyke at this section. If the latter, care should be taken to protect the gatepier and minimise damage to the dyke, restoring it in its original style when work is completed. As Listed buildings come under the protection of Historic Scotland, it may be advisable to consult this body over protective measures for sites 2 and 3

Area 3. Auldearn village

Site 4. Dooket Hill, Motte, at NH 9172 5562, SMR no. NH95NW0013, Scheduled, and containing Dovecot, SMR no. NH95NW0008, Listed ‘B’ Reputedly the Royal Castle of William the Lion (1165-1214), one of a line of castles constructed along the Moray coast to consolidate the power of the crown in this area, begun by David 1 and continued by his son William. The motte is likely to have originally been within a bailey, an outer enclosure containing the main domestic buildings, probably at this time constructed of timber. The motte occupies the west end of a low ridge; the ground falls away steeply to the west but gently to the east, which would suggest the location of the bailey to have been on the high ground to the east, an area now occupied by modern housing. (See archaeological evaluations below, sites 8-10) 

The nearest point of the proposed water main refurbishment to the Scheduled area is in the road 50m to the east. (Photos 4 and 5) This may well be within the possible location of an associated bailey. No archaeological evaluation appears to have taken place before the housing development. Excavation of a trench for the water main offers an opportunity for examination of below ground deposits. A timetable of further archaeological monitoring for this section should be arranged with the senior archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council (Hilary White)

Site 5. Auldearn Old Parish Church and Burying Ground at NH 9194 5557, SMR no. NH95NW0077, Listed ‘B’, and containing Scheduled Area, at NH 9197 5557, SMR no. NH95NW0006  The present church building, dating to 1754-7 is attached to its late mediaeval predecessor, taken over as a private burial place after the Reformation. This mediaeval building is the Scheduled area, and lies to the east of the present church, furthest from the road and the proposed water main refurbishments. The Scheduled area will therefore not be affected. The burying ground, as recorded on the 1st edition OS map, was originally confined to the south of the retaining wall approximately 15m NW of the church building. The burials in the ground between this wall and the road are of a recent date. (Photos 6 and 7) The proposed water main refurbishment is in the lane below this extension (Photo no. 8). South of the church, the burying ground is separated from the road along which the water main runs by a small lane rising to the church gates. The 1st edition OS map suggests a row of buildings between these two lanes (Photo no. 9)

It is highly unlikely that any feature associated with the church and burial ground extend beyond the present churchyard. In addition, the steepness of the slope suggests that both lanes will have cut into the bank, thus removing any earlier deposits. However, the immediate vicinity of the churchyard is the most likely location for pre-modern settlement, and traces of this may be revealed during excavation of the pipeline trench. Therefore, as with the area adjacent to the motte, it is recommended that a timetable for work along this section be agreed with the senior archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council to allow below ground deposits to be examined.

Site 6. Kinsteary Cottage, stone circle or ring cairn at NH 9247 5530, SMR no. NH95NW0002. Three stones of this feature now survive in a private garden (Photo no. 10). As recorded on the 1st edition OS map, when more stones were in situ, the circle or cairn lay half in the garden and half in the field to the south.

The water main refurbishments are on the north side of the road, north of the garden and approximately 50m from the edge of the circle. No further mitigating action is considered necessary at this location.

Site 7. Kinsteary, Crop Mark, possible barrow at NH 9242 5544, NMRS no. NH95NW 63. This feature, noted on aerial photographs, lies only 50m west of a section of proposed water main replacement cutting across the field. 

While this feature is not likely to be directly affected, it may be useful for archaeological monitoring to be carried out where the pipeline route leaves the roadside and cuts across the field where associated features may lie undisturbed below the plough soil

The above, sites 4-7, are the only recorded archaeological vicinity of the proposed work in or around Auldearn village. There remains the possibility of undisturbed archaeological features which may be revealed during excavation work. The following sites 8-14 give further background information on  recent archaeological investigations in Auldearn which may be useful in predicting the existence of archaeology in the proposed areas of work.

The following archaeological evaluations have been carried out in the vicinity of Auldearn Motte:

Site 8. CFA, B. Glendinning, 1999.  Geophysical survey and excavation work by the CFA in December 1998 on a site of proposed development on the SW slope of Dooket Hill, some of this formerly a farmyard with recent farm buildings. Several features of archaeological interest were identified, including isolated pits, artificial gullies and burnt material. No dateable material was recovered                               (Discovery and Excavation in Scotland 1999, 52)

Site 9. T. Addyman 2000 Topographic survey of Dooket hill concluded that the motte may have been the focus of a more substantial fortification, there perhaps having been a bailey outwith this survey area to the east and now built over.                                       (Discovery and Excavation in Scotland 2000, 48)

Site 10. Site visit by John Wood and Rod Murchison 5.1.2000. Observed that the uphill side of the housing site was largely composed of recent rubbish and a possible infilled sand quarry
The following archaeological Watching Briefs have been carried out within Auldearn Village:

Site 11. S. Farrel, 2001,at NH 9171 5553, NMRS no. NH95NW 65 No archaeological features or deposits were revealed.

Site 12. S. Farrel, 2001, at NH 9197 5557, NMRS no. NH95NW 6.01 An electricity supply trench excavated in the corner of the churchyard revealed a quantity of disarticulated bone relating to post-mediaeval burial.

Site 13. S. Farrel, 2001 at NH 9184 5545, NMRS no. NH95NW 67. Excavations for a house extension at 1, Newbiggings Buildings, High St. revealed no archaeological deposits and a stratigraphy of garden soil over natural sand.

It is inferred from the conclusions of these investigations that there is a reasonable likelihood of features of fortification and other activities being located on the higher ground in the vicinity of the motte and the church, but that contemporary settlement appears not to have extended onto the low ground now occupied by the 19th century expansion of the village.

Area 4. A96 to Dunbar Recreation Ground: no archaeological features noted.

Area 5. Raitloan SR toNewlands of Broomhill:

Site 14.  Geddes Chapel, St Mary’s Chapel, graveyard, mausoleum at NH 8883 5287, SMR no. NH85SE0001, Listed ‘B’ The original chapel on this site is thought to date back to 1220, although the present standing ruin is not an antiquity, having been built for the Roses of Geddes and Kilravock, probably in the late 17th century. Geddes Chapel is indicated on Blaeu’s maps based on Pont’s surveys of the 1580-90s and stood either under the present building or slightly further north against the north wall of the burial ground. The burial ground itself occupies the high ground and is surrounded by a retaining wall. The road passing it to the south appears to be sunken between the burial ground and the fields to the south, and indeed is sunken along its entire length from its junction with the B9101, suggestive of a route to the chapel of some antiquity (Photos 11 and 12)

The route of the proposed new water main is in the field to the south of the road. It is likely that the road has been in existence for some centuries and therefore that the south boundary of the burial ground has not altered. It may still be considered a precaution to carry out archaeological monitoring along this section of trench excavations

Site 15.  East Geddes,Market Stance at NH 8886 5285  This feature is noted on the 1st edition ordnance survey map and is the probable location of an annual fair held until recently on April 5th. The site is now occupied by a 19th century estate cottage and its gardens

The proposed new water main route passes through the field to the south of the market stance. There may be archaeological deposits associated with the fair surviving under the plough soil, and archaeological monitoring of this section may be useful.

Site 16. Raitcastle Farm , corn and barley mill, sawmill at NH 8895 5290.  Several probably 19th century estate features are noted on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map. These are all north and east of the burial ground and the road and will not be affected.

Site 17. Wester Regoul, Boundary Dyke, retaining wall at NH 8828 5136 An early style of drystone walling probably dating to major redesign of the Geddes estate contemporary with the construction of Geddes House in 1801-5. The policies to the east of the road between Wester Regoul and Raitcastle Farm are similarly enclosed. This section of retaining wall is damaged to the SE, probably by the insertion of the original water main in 1971, and ends abruptly 75m to the NW, but the section between is well-preserved.

Further damage to this section of dyke should be avoided by keeping as close to the original water main route as possible. As the original dyke has not been preserved or reinstated during previous work, no further protection or reinstatement is considered necessary.

Site 18. Newlands of Torrich, Farmstead at NH 8825 5132. A farmstead consisting of a rectangular enclosure attached to the west boundary dyke of Wester Regoul, with buildings in the NW corner of this enclosure, is marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map. This is named as Newlands of Torrich, and probably represents a phase of expansion of farmland towards the end of the 19th century. Black’s Picturesque Guide to Scotland (1892) states: ‘Perhaps in no county in Scotland has the reclamation of waste ground made such progress of late as in the small county of Nairn. There are several cases of the arable acreage of farms being doubled within a very short period’ The frequency of the placename Newlands (of Broomhill, of Torrich, of Urchany) along the boundary between the farmlands to the west and the hills to the east, and apparently representing small holdings, is indicative of this expansion. This farmstead at Wester Regoul has now been completely demolished and the site cleared to increase the ploughable area of the surrounding field.

As this site has been deliberately demolished and cleared away, there are unlikely to be any surviving archaeological features, and further monitoring or protection is not considered necessary.

Summary of Recommendations

1.  Archaeological monitoring of work is recommended at the following sites where there is considered to be a likelihood of archaeological features or deposits being revealed by excavation:    Sites 7, 14, 15

2. The following sites, of national and regional significance, will not be directly affected by the present work, but there is a likelihood of associated features being revealed during excavation in the vicinity, and it is recommended that archaeological monitoring be carried out in these areas:   Sites 4, 5.

3. The following sites are close enough to the areas of work to be potentially damaged, and recommendations have been made above for their protection, but further archaeological monitoring is not considered necessary:  Sites 1, 2, 3, 17

4. The following sites were identified as adjacent to the proposed work, but it is not considered that they or associated features in their vicinity will be affected and no further recommendations are given for their protection: Sites 6, 16, 18.
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1.  Site 2, Boath Steading, view from NE. Pipeline passes along road in foreground.
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2.  Site 2, Boath Steading, view from SE. Pipeline passes along road in foreground
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3. Site 3, Boath House, Gatepier and dyke, view from N. pipeline passes in road.

[image: image4.png]


4. Site no. 4, Dooket Hill Motte, view towards Scheduled monuments from the East, photo taken on the line of the water main. Edge of the Scheduled area is at the signpost at the far end of the lane running away from centre.
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Site 4. Dooket Hill Motte, view from edge of Scheduled area towards the water main. This passes behind the wheelie bin along the road in front of the white cottage.

6. Site 5, Auldearn Old Parish Church and Burial Ground, view from NW. The water main passes along the road behind the wheelie bin. The retaining wall visible below the church marks the original boundary of the burial ground
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Site 5, Auldearn Old Parish Church and Burial Ground. Water main passes along Boath Road west of the present burial ground extension
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Site 5. Auldearn Old parish Church and Burial Ground. Stepped wall behind the trees to the left of the picture marks the boundary of the old burial ground. Water main runs along Boath Road, foreground, and turns up lane, centre.
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Site 5, Auldearn Old Parish Church and Burial Ground.  Church grounds are to the right of the upper lane, water main runs along the lower lane, left of centre.
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Site 6, Kinsteary Cottage, stone circle or ring cairn. One stone is visible between the two trees behind the wheelie bin. Water main runs along near side of road.
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11.  Site 14, Geddes Chapel and burial ground, view from west. Water main runs along the road. Note higher ground level of field to the right.
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Site 14, Geddes Chapel and Site 15, market Stance, view from West. The cottage just visible behind the trees to the left and the gateway by the far car mark the site of the market stance.
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